



The Role of Climate Information and Advisory Services in Drought Resiliency: A Comparative Case Study in Tamil Nadu, India

Kelly Anne Bridges

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the MSc degree in Water Science, Policy and Management School of Geography and the Environment University of Oxford

Abstract

Beginning in 2016, the southern Indian state of Tamil Nadu began to suffer from its worst drought in the past 140 years. Due to climate change and the El Niño Southern Oscillation, both the northeast and southwest monsoons failed decreasing the amount of summer and autumn rainfall. Farmers are especially vulnerable to this climatic variability. Using resilience as a conceptual framework and empirical findings from semi-structured key informant and farmer interviews, this paper analyzes the consequences of the 2016 drought on farmers across two sites in the Erode District, as well as explores the role of Climate Information and Advisory Services (CIS) in building agricultural farm-level resilience. This paper finds that CIS did not help communities cope with the 2016 drought due to issues relating to short-range forecasting, access, and reliability. The expectations of CIS producers did not align with end-users' reality.

Keywords: climate information services, agro-met advisories, forest-dwelling scheduled tribes, drought, resilience, adaptive capacity

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Katrina Charles, for her support throughout my dissertation. With my supervisor's guidance, I was able to navigate the research process from selecting my research questions and site (going through my fair share of countries and topics since October) to deciphering my somewhat convoluted data. Thank you for your endless patience and encouragement.

I would like to thank WSPM alum, Narendra Killada, for connecting me with the Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment (ATREE) in Bengaluru, India, as well as the ATREE employees for their hospitality and for supporting my research project. In particular, I would like to express my greatest gratitude to those in the Adaptation at Scale in Semi-Arid Regions (ASSAR) team including Dr. Shrinivas Badiger, Dr. Divya Solomon, Vivekh, and Venkat. Dr. Badiger and Dr. Solomon's guidance in site selection, research methodologies, and preliminary data analysis was paramount to the success of my research project. Furthermore, I cannot thank Vivekh and Venkat enough for traveling with me to the field and organizing interviews. With Vivekh's dedication as my interpreter, I was able to conduct in-depth interviews with numerous respondents over a short time period – it was quite the feat! I would also like to thank the key informants and community members I interviewed for their cooperation, patience, and help. Not only did they respond to my endless questions, but also showered me with kindness (thank you for the chai, fresh fruits, and Indian snacks!).

Finally, I would like to thank my WSPM family for the much-needed study sessions and breaks during the writing process. I could not have asked for a better support network or group of friends during this academically challenging (yet rewarding) year.

Table of Contents

A	BSTRA	СТ	I
A	.CKNO ^v	WLEDGEMENTS	II
L	IST OF	ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	V
1	INT	RODUCTION	1
-	1.1	BACKGROUND	
	1.2	RESEARCH FOCUS	3
2	LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	5
	2.1	CLIMATE VARIABILITY	
	2.2	FOREST-DWELLING SCHEDULED TRIBES	7
	2.3	RESILIENCE: A CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	
	2.4	RESILIENCE AND CLIMATE INFORMATION AND ADVISORY SERVICES	
	2.5	GAPS IN LITERATURE AND RESEARCH IMPORTANCE	13
3	CAS	SE STUDY SITES	14
	3.1	SATHYAMANGALAM WILDLIFE SANCTUARY AND TIGER RESERVE	
	3.2	BHAVANISAGAR	15
4	RES	EARCH METHODOLOGY	17
	4.1	INTRODUCTION	17
	4.2	RESEARCH STRATEGY	
	4.3	SITE AND SAMPLE SELECTION	
	4.4	DATA COLLECTION TECHNIQUES	
	4.5	FRAMEWORK FOR DATA ANALYSIS	
	4.6	LIMITATIONS AND POTENTIAL PROBLEMS	
5		SULTS: DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS	
	5.1	OBSERVATIONS	
	5.2	SEMI-STRUCTURED INTERVIEWS	
6	DIS	CUSSION	
	6.1	THE BROADER CONTEXT	
	6.2	Reflections	
7	COI	NCLUSION	
R	EFERE	NCES	42
A	PPEND	ICES	
	APPEN		
	APPEN	DIX B: GENERAL FARMER INTERVIEW GUIDE	54
	APPEN		
	Node		
	Nod		
	Nod	0 2	
	APPEN		
	Nod Nod	8 1	
	Nod		
	Node		
	Nod	8	
		1 1	

List of Figures

FIGURE 1: MAP OF CASE STUDY SITES.	16
FIGURE 2: QUALITATIVE DATA ANALYSIS PROCESS FOR STR AND BHAVANISAGAR CASE STUDY	25
FIGURE 3: FARMER RESPONSES IN STR AND BHAVANISAGAR ON HOW THEY ACCESS CIS	27
FIGURE 4: FARMER RESPONSES IN STR AND BHAVANISAGAR ON THE SHORTCOMINGS OF CIS	28
FIGURE 5: FARMER RESPONSES IN STR AND BHAVANISAGAR ON USES OF CIS IN DECISION-MAKING	28

List of Tables

TABLE 1: FARMERS INTERVIEWED IN THE STR.	20
TABLE 2: FARMERS INTERVIEWED IN BHAVANISAGAR.	20
TABLE 3: KEY INFORMANTS INTERVIEWED.	21
TABLE 4: FARMER RESPONSES AND SELECTED QUOTES.	
TABLE 5: KEY INFORMANT RESPONSES AND SELECTED QUOTES.	

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

- AAS Agrometeorological Advisory Service
- AMAS Agro-Meteorology Advisory Service
- ATREE Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment
- CBO Community-Based Organization
- CCAFS CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security
- **CD Block** Community Development Block
- CIS Climate Information and Advisory Services
- CSA Climate-Smart Agriculture
- Dept. Department
- EDCCB Erode District Central Cooperative Bank, Ltd.
- ENSO El-Niño Southern Oscillation
- FRA The Scheduled Tribes and Other Traditional Forest Dwellers (Recognition of Forest

Rights) Act, 2006

- FRC Forest Rights Committee
- IMD Indian Meteorological Department
- NGO Non-Governmental Organization
- NTFP Non-Timber Forest Products

PA – Protected Area

- SES Social-Ecological Systems
- SST Sea Surface Temperature
- **ST** Scheduled Tribe
- STR Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve
- SMS Short Message Service
- TN Tamil Nadu
- TNAU Tamil Nadu Agricultural University
- WTO Watershed Organisation Trust

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The frequency of severe weather events is expected to increase globally as a result of climate change (Gummadi et al., 2016). Climate change is caused by the atmospheric accumulation of greenhouse gases, which trap heat, causing a cascade of effects worldwide. Greenhouse gases are emitted through land use changes, the burning of fossil fuels, and the application of inorganic fertilizers and pesticides, among other causes (Raj, 2016). This phenomenon is responsible for changes in rainfall, tropospheric temperatures, sea level, sea surface temperatures (SSTs), and jet streams (Naidu et al., 2015). Due to its impact on SSTs, climate change is predicted to increase the occurrence of extreme El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) events (Cai et al., 2014). Both climate change and ENSO events contribute to climate variability worldwide by influencing global processes, such as the Indian monsoon system.

Every year, India experiences the southwest and northeast monsoon systems. These systems are products of fluctuations in land and ocean temperatures (Naidu et al., 2015). The southwest monsoon, which begins in June and ends in September, supplies India with 70 percent of its annual rainfall (Gummadi et al., 2016). Climate change threatens the southwest monsoon, as it weakens the SST gradient in the equatorial Indian Ocean during the summer months. In turn, the southwest monsoon has decreased in strength producing less summertime rainfall. Similarly, ENSO affects the southwest monsoon through decadal variations in SST patterns and inter-annual SST anomalies, as well through the weakening of its own intensity (Naidu et al., 2015). The northeast monsoon, which lasts from October to December, is also impacted by climate change (Varadan et al., 2017). During this autumn event, southern India demonstrates increases in both low and extreme rainfall events (Naidu et al., 2015). Due to climate change and ENSO, India has begun to experience frequent and intense floods and droughts (Varadan et al., 2017). While both types of climatic events have far-reaching impacts, this paper will focus on the consequences of droughts in agricultural systems.

Approximately one-third of India's geographical area suffers from water stress and drought conditions (Manikandan and Tamilmani, 2015). Monsoon variability and failure have significant

implications for India's agricultural industry, which employs 70 percent of the total population (Gummadi et al., 2016). Of particular concern are India's rainfed agricultural systems, which cover two-thirds of the country's total cropped area and provide a source of livelihood for millions (Pradhan et al., 2017). The crop-growing season is impacted by the shifting, weakening, and delay of monsoon rains (Sivaraj and Philip, 2015). Climate variability also increases the incidence of pests and diseases (Shukla et al., 2016). In 2016, farmers in the southern state of Tamil Nadu (TN) experienced its worst drought in 140 years (Kannan, 2017).

The causes of the 2016 drought have been attributed to weakened southwest and northeast monsoon rains and poor water management (Venkatesh, 2017). The drought coincided with one of the strongest ENSO events in the last 60 years, which caused record high temperatures and water shortages in India (Blunden and Arndt, 2017). In addition to ENSO, rains failed due to climate change. Last year, the state experienced a 66 percent rainfall deficit in the northeast monsoon (Mariappanl, 2016). TN is most dependent on this autumn monsoon to meet its annual water requirement (Kedia, 2017). The southwest summer monsoon also waned. Between the two systems, there was a total rainfall deficiency of 81 percent (Venkatesh, 2017). Only 550 mm of rain fell over TN as compared with mean annual rainfall of 945 mm (Kannan, 2017). As a result, combined storage of TN's key irrigation reservoirs were at 15 percent of their total capacity (Mariappanl, 2016). With insufficient monsoon rains, storage, and groundwater levels, farmers suffered losses in yield and profit.

Farmers have a variety of tools at their disposal to adapt to climatic risks, like the 2016 TN drought. Adaptation strategies often include the use of irrigation technologies and water conservation measures, reductions in acres sown, and the implementation of sowing rules that take into account timing, and soil and climatic conditions (Hochman et al., 2017). Only recently has the use of climate information and advisory services (CIS) gained traction (Tall et al., 2014). CIS provide farmers with information about weather, climate variability, and climate change. The most common type of services are agro-advisories, and hydro-meteorological, disaster (i.e. flood or drought early warning systems), and long-term regional climate forecasts (Singh et al., 2017). The service includes rainfall and temperature data, seasonal climate variables relevant to agricultural risks, historic climate trends, and future projections, which farmers can use to time planting, harvesting and application of irrigation, fertilizers, pesticides, and insecticides. Moreover, farmers can use CIS to determine which crops to select and whether to leave land fallow, diversify their

livelihoods, and purchase land and irrigation technologies. CIS are delivered to farmers through mass media, agricultural extension agents, workshops, and mobile phone services (CCAFS, n.d.). In order to minimize the devastating effects of droughts and build farm resilience to climatic risks, CIS must be further explored.

1.2 Research Focus

The research questions explored are: 1) How do CIS contribute to farm-level resiliency to climatic risks; 2) How were CIS accessed and used during the 2016 drought; and 3) Do CIS producers and end-users' expectations align? The overall aim of the research project was to explore and gain a better understanding of the ways in which tribal and non-tribal farmers in Tamil Nadu (TN) respond to droughts through the use of CIS to build resilience. I argue that CIS are largely inaccessible to farmers, particularly those living in forested areas who are illiterate, remote, and lacking in technology and government support. Moreover, CIS in their current form – short-range forecasts – were not useful to farmers to prepare them for the 2016 drought, despite claims by CIS producers that they were. Thus, the expectations of CIS producers and end-users do not align.

In order to achieve the research aims, I performed an extensive literature review and conducted semi-structured interviews with key informants and farmers in two distinct communities. The interviews were carried out over a 10-day period from 16th June to 6th July 2017. Both of the farming communities resided within the Erode District of TN. One sample population was located in the remote Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve (STR), while the other was located in the rural, semi-arid town of Bhavanisagar. The key informants belonged to various government bodies and NGOs, including but not limited to Tamil Nadu Agricultural University (TNAU), Keystone Foundation, and the Bhavanisagar Horticulture Department. The literature review was used to answer the first research question, while the other two were explored through empirical data. The farmer interviews helped to further understanding of farmer's access to, attitudes, and use of CIS, while the key informant interviews provided context of the case study sites and farmers' responses.

The dissertation has been divided into seven chapters. Chapter 1 above has provided an introduction into the research topic and project. Chapter 2 includes a comprehensive literature review that critically engages with recent literature in the areas of climatic risks, marginalization

of forest-dwelling STs, resilience, and CIS. Additionally, it identifies the gaps in the literature that the research project aims to fill. Chapter 3 provides a thorough background about the case study sites and populations. Chapter 4 details and justifies the methodology employed in the research project, as well as addresses limitations and challenges. Chapter 5 describes and analyzes the research findings from the key informant and farmer interviews. Chapter 6 synthesizes the results within the context of the broader literature, as well as provides personal reflections on the research process. Finally, Chapter 7 summarizes the research findings, argument, and contributions to the academic literature.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Climate Variability

In India, climate change has reduced rainfall during the summer months, as well as delayed the arrival of the monsoon (Naidu et al., 2015). By using Z-statistic to calculate and test changes in mean rainfall from 1951 to 2008 using data from 1,803 weather stations across India, Naidu et al. (2015) found that the nation experienced increased dry days and extreme rainfall events. Additionally, moderate rainfall events declined over this period as a result of climate change (Naidu et al., 2015). Within agricultural systems, climate change is predicted to impact crop production, input supplies, and hydrology (Raj, 2016). More specifically, the consequences of climate change include changes in crop nature (e.g. harvesting time, growing season, and losses), pest and disease incidence, and water availability and salinity (Sivaraj and Philip, 2015). Within Tamil Nadu (TN), Varadan et al. (2017) used statistical tools, including Pettitt's Homogeneity Test, Cumulative Sum Charts, Mann-Kendall Rank Statistic, and a box-and-whisker Plot, to approximate the effect of climate change on rainfall trends. The southwest monsoon was impacted by climate change in that rainfall decreased with less dispersion. Consequently, the growing season for crops shrunk during the southwest monsoon. In contrast, the northeast monsoon increased with more dispersion. During the northeast monsoon, fledgling crops faced flood risks (Varadan et al., 2017).

In addition to climate change, the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) also contributes to extreme weather events, and is the main cause of episodic droughts (Wang et al., 2014). In a study by Azad and Rajeevan (2016), it was found that due to ENSO there would not only be less rainfall over India, but that the frequency of ENSO events would increase from every 3 to 5 years to every 2.5 to 3 years by the end of the century. These findings are concerning given that 5 of the last 7 El Niño events between 1980 to 2016 resulted in droughts (Azad and Rajeevan, 2016). Like Azad and Rajeevan's (2016) findings, Cai et al. (2014) found through the use of Coupled Model Intercomparison Project phases 3 and 5 multi-model databases and a perturbed physics ensemble that the frequency of extreme El Niño events would increase as a result of climate change and its impacts on sea surface temperatures (SST). In the Indian Ocean, SST are increasing and so are

temperatures over the Indian landmass, thus decreasing the land-sea thermal gradient. This decline results in less rainfall and weakens the southwest monsoon Hadley circulation (Roxy et al., 2015). Due to the combination of factors from climate change and ENSO, droughts in India are expected to increase (Azad and Rajeevan, 2016).

Droughts are classified as water shortages due to poor rainfall, increased evapotranspiration, and/or mismanagement or overuse of water resources (Manikandan and Tamilmani, 2015). Van Loon et al. (2016) identified three types of droughts driven by a confluence of climate variability and anthropogenic causes (e.g. land use, water abstraction, etc.): meteorological drought, soil moisture drought and hydrological drought. Meteorological drought is defined by a decline in rainfall below normal levels (Manikandan and Tamilmani, 2015). Soil moisture drought is defined as abnormally low soil moisture levels, while hydrological drought is characterized by abnormally low river discharge, and surface water, reservoir, and groundwater levels (Van Loon et al., 2016). In addition to the three aforementioned drought classifications, the combination of meteorological and hydrological droughts can be categorized as sociological droughts in which water shortages limit socioeconomic activities (Choudhury and Sindhi, 2017). Conditions that affect drought severity are length, geographical area, and water or moisture deficit (Rao and Gopinath, 2016).

In India, periods of major drought are classified by nationwide negative rainfall anomalies that last throughout a monsoon season (Naidu et al., 2015). At the district-level, they are defined by a 51 percent deficiency in rainfall (DT Next, 2016). The impact of droughts includes irrigation cutbacks, decreased reservoir levels, groundwater exploitation and crop losses (Manikandan and Tamilmani, 2015). The Erode District of TN only received 28 percent of normal monsoon rains (DT Next, 2016). The amount of rainfall began to decrease in 2013, along with groundwater levels. Last year, however, was markedly worse than those before it. In 2015 the Erode District received 600 mm of rainfall, but by November 2016 only 88 mm had fallen (TNN, 2016a). Additionally, the Bhavanisagar Dam's reservoir levels dropped to 3,000 mcft (million cubic feet) in 2016. During the same period in 2015, the Bhavanisagar Dam contained 10,000 mcft of water (Mariappanl, 2016).

The drought also extended into the forested areas of the Erode District. The Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve (STR) suffers droughts annually given its location in the rain shadow of the Western Ghats. In March and April, surface waters dry with the

exception of the Moyar River (Sathyamangalam Tiger Reserve, n.d.). In 2016, however, the drought became so severe that little water remained in its ponds and lakes. The drought was attributed to weakening southwest monsoon rains that failed to deliver enough rainfall to the reserve. In a Times of India article dated 20th October 2016, a Forest Department authority and a trustee of the Wildlife Nature Conservation Trust had remarked that the drought was noticeably worse in 2016 than in 2015. As a result, wildlife ventured into human settlements looking for water. Approximately half of the wildlife, including elephants, tigers, leopard, deer and Indian gaurs, traveled to the surrounding states of Karnataka and Kerala (TNN, 2016b).

2.2 Forest-Dwelling Scheduled Tribes

Following Independence in 1949, the Indian Constitution established Schedules 5 and 6 to protect marginalized Scheduled Tribe (ST) populations (Springate-Baginski et al, 2013). STs are classified by their 'primitive traits,' unique culture, remoteness, limited contact with outsiders, and socio-economic or political 'backwardness' (Adhikary, 2014). Gupta (2009) added that an ST must be indigenous, have a shared ancestry or display groupism, and largely reside in one 'territorial habitat.' Unlike other groups within India, STs fall outside the caste hierarchy (Majumdar, 2016). In the most recent census, over 104 million individuals were identified as STs, accounting for 8.6 percent of the nation's population (Chandramouli, 2013). Communities categorized as STs are eligible for targeted welfare schemes aimed at improving their economic wellbeing (Bose et al., 2012). Despite constitutional protections and benefits, many ST communities remain marginalized and disadvantaged today. In 2011 through 2012, 44.8 percent of rural STs lived below the poverty line (Majumdar, 2016). Additionally, STs have inadequate access to healthcare, employment, education, economic resources (e.g. land ownership), and government schemes (Majumdar, 2016). Political participation is also limited.

Patnaik (2013) conducted 173 district-level personal interviews with elected representatives and focus groups in Odisha to examine the representation of STs within the context of decentralized local government. The sample site was selected given its relatively high percentage of STs compared with the national average. Elected officials at each branch of local government were interviewed across different caste and tribal groups, ages, occupations, education levels, and gender. The researcher found that of the 173 respondents, only 18 were STs. The low

representation was attributed to systemic injustices that exclude ST populations from decisionmaking processes and bodies. Instead, decentralization strengthened the power and authority of elites. The author concluded that rather than empowering marginalized populations, devolution reinforces the status quo to the detriment of STs (Patnaik, 2013).

Forest management and protection is also decentralized, with various consequences for forest-dwelling STs. Of the 275 million Indians dependent upon forest resources, approximately one-third are STs (Mundoli et al., 2016). In addition to the aforementioned struggles STs face, those living within forests suffer land alienation, natural resource degradation, displacement, and potential legal recourse for alleged encroachment (Bose et al., 2012). Further, forest-dwelling STs living in protected areas (PAs), such as wildlife sanctuaries and tiger reserves, are often antagonized by forest authorities and blamed for biodiversity losses (Hussain et al., 2016). Due to these challenging conditions, Harihar et al. (2014) found that residents in the Rajaji National Park and Corbett Tiger Reserve – PAs of Uttarakhand – would prefer to be resettled elsewhere than continue to live within the parks. Through socio-economic surveys conducted with 158 respondents, it was revealed that all but two were unsatisfied with the living conditions within the PAs. Villagers struggled with livestock depredation, forest unproductivity, and insufficient access to education and healthcare, among other problems (Harihar et al., 2014). In an attempt to address these issues, the national government passed The Scheduled Tribes and Other Traditional Forest Dwellers (Recognition of Forest Rights) Act, 2006 (FRA) (Mohanty, 2015).

The FRA, which was officially notified in December 2007, allows individuals and communities to claim forest and land rights, which are subject to verification by a local Forest Rights Committee (FRC) (Barnes et al., 2016). STs and other traditional forest dwellers were also given power to conserve and protect forests and natural resources (Barnes et al., 2016). While the FRA devolved certain rights to forest-dwelling ST communities, ultimate authority lies with the states (Perera, 2014). Ownership of forests came under state control in 1980 with the passage of the Indian Forest (Conservation) Act (Sundar, 2013). The efficacy of the FRA has since been widely debated. Kumar et al. (2015) published a paper analyzing the potential effects of the FRA via an analysis of primary and secondary data, including empirical evidence from Odisha. They concluded that the FRA has a far better potential than other measures (e.g. the Joint Forest Management Program) to improve the wellbeing of forest-dwelling STs. By affording rights to village assemblies, and through the inclusion of STs in local democratic processes, forest officials

are held accountable to do right by STs. With decentralization, power is also distributed more equitably, and the control of the Forest Department is constricted (Kumar et al., 2015). Other researchers, however, have been far more pessimistic about the outcomes of the FRA due to its unsuccessful implementation in several states (Veeresha, 2016).

Even with the enactment of the FRA, there are instances across the country of its provisions being ignored or implemented carelessly. Perera (2014) writes that state officials may be more inclined to side with development projects (e.g. mining) that clear forests than with the forest-dwelling ST populations that rely on the them for their livelihoods and traditions. In Springate-Baginski et al.'s study (2013) covering six villages in Andhra Pradesh, the authors also found that the election of FRCs was completed haphazardly to the displeasure of ST villagers. Through key informant interviews, focus group discussions, and household questionnaires, they learned that villagers who criticized the elections were threatened with the rejection of land title claims. During the implementation of the FRA, it was also found that authorities failed to explain community rights and the application process for land rights, as well as improperly conducted land surveys needed to grant tenure. The Forest Department overrode other rights too, including forest-dwellers' right to appeal rejected claims (Springate-Baginski et al, 2013).

Implementation is also stalled in ten states where claims to individual and community land rights are still being processed (Mundoli et al., 2016). TN is one of the states in which the FRA had not yet been implemented (Mohanty, 2015). As of 31st January 2017, none of the 21,781 land title deed claims – 18,420 of which are individual forest rights claims and the rest are at the community-level – have been distributed (Arasu, 2017). Through desk research, Mohanty (2015) cites the causes of FRA stagnation as states lacking trained, on-the-ground personnel and having to face civil insurgencies. In northeastern states, the FRA was not implemented, as they already had existing provisions for forest-dwelling STs and found the FRA extraneous. Troublingly, some states' Forest Departments were also found to purposely resist recognition of tribal rights (Mohanty, 2015).

The News Minute published a four-part series from 31st May to 26th June 2017 to better understand why TN failed to implement the FRA since its establishment over a decade ago. For the piece, Arasu (2017) interviewed forest-dwelling STs residing in PAs across TN, including the STR, as well key informants. One interviewee with the Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment (ATREE) was quoted as stating that the FRA has not yet been implemented as

the Forest Department fears losing control of the state's 56,000 acres of forest. In contrast, forest officials blame implementation on insufficient manpower. Finally, STs in the STR believe that the impasse is a result of government apathy. Without FRA implementation, STs are restricted in their livelihood strategies, such as fishing and collection of non-timber forest products, and risk arrest. Villagers are also barred from developing their land. While some residents are able to get away with installing water supplies and power connections, MS Selvaraj states, "But even though this is there, now and then the forest department says, 'don't develop here, this is our land.' So the problems are still there" (Arasu, 2017). Without implementation, it is at the discretion of forest officials to cherry-pick which FRA provisions to permit within PAs (Arasu, 2017).

2.3 Resilience: A Conceptual Framework

Resilience is characterized by a unit's buffer capacity, self-organization, and adaptive capacity and learning (Milestad and Darnhofer, 2003). It has also been framed as one's disaster preparedness, adaptive capacity, and recovery (Bhamra et al., 2011). Adaptive capacity refers to the long-term coping mechanisms to phenomenon (Gallopín, 2006). It involves learning and feedback mechanisms (Milestad and Darnhofer, 2003). Social resilience, more specifically, is defined by a unit's ability to adapt to and recover from external threats (i.e. climatic variability) (Gallopín, 2006). In farming systems, Milestad and Darnhofer (2003) write that individual farm-level agricultural resilience includes awareness of climatic events, diversified livelihoods, socio-ecological management, political participation, information exchanges between farmers, and local support networks. Resilience must account for both long-term and sudden changes across geographical and temporal scales (Folke et al., 2005).

The concept of resilience has been examined through several frameworks, such as socialecological systems (SES) theory, which came about in Holling's 1973 paper on ecological resilience (Welsh, 2014). SES theory is defined by Redman et al. as:

1. a coherent system of biophysical and social factors that regularly interact in a resilient, sustained manner; 2. a system that is defined at several spatial, temporal, and organizational scales, which may be hierarchically linked; 3. a set of critical resources (natural, socioeconomic, and cultural) whose flow and use is regulated by a combination of

ecological and social systems; and 4. a perpetually dynamic, complex system with continuous adaptation (2004, p. 163)

The components of an SES include resource systems and units, governance systems, and users. Within these components, other factors include resource system size, unit mobility, and user's knowledge (Ostrom, 2009). SES are complex, dynamic, and involve cooperation or collective action (Anderies et al., 2004).

Resilience and the concept of SES are not without their faults. After undertaking a thorough analysis of SES normative assumptions and related epistemology, Cote and Nightingale (2012) write that SES failed to take into consideration power dynamics or culture. Welsh (2014) adds that resilience has become devoid of politics since the 1970s, ignoring issues of social justice and power relations. Therefore, Cote and Nightingale (2012) have proposed an alternative to SES called situated resilience, which recognizes that impact of tradition and political marginalization in one's adaptive capacity. Cretney (2014) also provided an alternative to resilience over similar concerns about the concept's inability to account for power, marginalization, and agency called socio-ecological resilience. Under this framework, ensuring that society is resilient also ensures that the environment is resilient and vice-versa (Cretney, 2014).

2.4 Resilience and Climate Information and Advisory Services

Climate Information and Advisory Services (CIS) can help build agricultural and farmlevel resilience by lessening climate-related losses and improving social benefits (Adams et al., 2015). In India, CIS includes agrometeorological advisories and early warning information systems, and are developed by an assortment of national, state, and district-level agencies. In 1945, the Indian Meteorological Department (IMD) created the Agro-Meteorology Advisory Service (AMAS). Farmers were unsatisfied with the service, as the weather advisories were provided only one-day in advance, leaving farmers with an insufficient lead-time for decision-making (Tall et al., 2014). As a result, the IMD further decentralized the program in 1976 to state and districtlevels during its Eleventh Five Year Plan. The IMD's AMAS is supported by an array of institutions, including the India Council of Agricultural Research, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), community-based organizations (CBOs), and agricultural universities (Tripathi and Mishra, 2016). Another program developed was the Integrated Agrometeorological Advisory Service (AAS) in 2008, which has since benefited three million farmers nationwide. Unlike AMAS, AAS is run by the National Centre for Medium Range Weather Forecasting. The AAS relies on local Agro Meteorological Field Units based at agricultural universities, like Tamil Nadu Agricultural University (TNAU), to disseminate climate information and weather forecasts. The data produced provides farmers with a four to five-day lead-time to anticipate and respond to changes in weather. The data includes rainfall, relative humidity, wind speed and direction, maximum and minimum temperatures, and cloudiness. Importantly, this CIS is delivered in several local languages and through mass media, meetings, the Internet, mobile phones, and posters. Through SMS and voice messages (i.e. Kisan) approximately 2.5 million farmers and 30,000 farmers, respectively, have accessed AAS (Tall et al., 2014).

CIS has improved the resilience and security of Indian farmers. Farmers in the state of Maharashtra receiving CIS produced by the Watershed Organisation Trust (WTO) and the Indian Meteorological Department (IMD) had increased agricultural productivity by 30 to 80 percent. Information was delivered through mobile phones, village loudspeakers, word-of-mouth, and walls in public areas. Additionally, the WTO and IMD's CIS focused on farm-level weather forecasts providing information in the local language on rainfall variability, among other climatic and agricultural information (Singh et al., 2017). Feedback mechanisms were also adopted (Lobo et al., 2017). Balaji and Craufurd (2011) found more broadly that farmers living in the Indo-Gangetic Plains receiving AAS reduced cultivation costs by up to 5 percent. Yields also increased by up to 25 percent. Moreover, AAS helped to increase farmers' knowledge of crop and soil management and build resilience to climatic variability (Balaji and Craufurd, 2011).

Despite these successes, several challenges have been identified regarding CIS production, accessibility, and use. In a study by Belakeri et al. (2017), the following issues identified were: 1) CIS production and delivery costs; 2) Distortion of information; 3) Time consuming process; 4) Ineffective communication of services; 5) Generic state- and district-level information; and 6) Mode of delivery (i.e. mobile phone and cell signal access). Joseph et al. (2017) also analyzed the accuracy of CIS (i.e. five-day weather forecasts) in TN using various statistical tools like categorical and quasi-continuous variables. In the Thoothukudi District, for example, the weather forecasts had a 64 to 78 percent accuracy (Joseph et al., 2017). Finally, access does not equate use of CIS. Even in communities with high mobile phone access and, therefore, CIS services (i.e. the Garo ST farmers of the northeastern Himalayas), CIS is not necessarily used (Lahiri et al., 2017).

In order to increase use, Meinke et al. (2006) suggests involving communities in the co-production of climate information, so that they feel that they 'own' the services they produced. It is necessary to address these challenges in order to build farm-level agricultural resilience.

2.5 Gaps in Literature and Research Importance

This research fills a gap within the literature. Currently, there is a dearth in the academic body of work analyzing farmers' access to and use of CIS in India, particularly that of forestdwelling STs, as well as the disconnect between CIS producers and end-users. Additionally, given how recent the ongoing 2016-2017 drought is, research has not yet been published analyzing how CIS was used to build resilience to this historic event. Aside from their contribution to the academic literature, the findings may prove useful to CIS producers in the production and delivery of CIS. By gaining a better understanding of on-the-ground challenges in CIS accessibility and usefulness, producers can then begin the process of reforming their services to build the climate resilience of at-risk farming communities.

3 Case Study Sites

3.1 Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve

The two case study sites selected within the Erode District were the Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve (STR) and Bhavanisagar (Figure 1). The STR is located within the Western Ghats and is the largest tiger reserve within the southern state, consisting of 1,400 km² of forest. Its coordinates are 10°29'15" to 11°43'11" north and 76°50'46" to 77°27'22" east (Sathya and Jayakumar, 2017). In November 2008, it was declared a wildlife sanctuary (Kedlaya, 2013). Five years later, on 15th March 2013, the national government officially recognized it as a tiger reserve (Gurung, 2013). The reserve lies between 250 m to 1,450 m above mean sea level (Sathya and Jayakumar, 2017). Temperatures range from 21.54 to 32.84 degrees Celsius. Average annual rainfall measures 824 mm, with rainfall varying greatly across the protected area (PA) due to an east-west rainfall gradient (Sathyamangalam Tiger Reserve, n.d.). As a result, the STR consists of diverse forest types, including evergreen, deciduous, thorn, savanna and riparian forests (Sathya and Jayakumar, 2017). The STR receives 70 percent of its rainfall from the northeast monsoon (Swaminathan, 2016). This rainy season occurs from September to November, while the dry period is from January to April. Other months are characterized by intermittent rainfall (Sathyamangalam Tiger Reserve, n.d.). The two rivers that feed into the STR are the Bhavani and Moyar Rivers (Swaminathan, 2016).

The STR consists of 900 households across 138 villages. The two forest-dwelling STs residing in the PA are the Irulas and Kurumbas (Kedlaya, 2013). Interviews were conducted in the Mavanatham and Bejalatti villages of the STR's buffer zone (Table 1). Buffer zones are areas for habitat restoration protected from encroachment, grazing, poaching, timber felling or thinning, head loading, and biotic interference (Ramasubramanian, n.d.). In both villages, 99 percent of households belong to STs. In Mavanatham, 99 percent of households farm, while 95 percent farm in Bejalatti. Villagers in Mavanatham do not hold land rights, while in Bejalatti average land holding size with tenure was 0.5 acres, and 0.4 acres without tenure. Villagers in the STR farm finger millet, beans, mustard, and maize, among other crops. Additionally, they collect non-timber forest products (NTFP), like honey, gooseberry, myrobalan, and *Phoenix loureiroi* (Kodandapani

et al., 2014). Literacy rates for the STR are unavailable; however, of the 189,661 Irulas living in Tamil Nadu (TN), 49.1 percent are literate. Of the 6,823 Kurumbas in TN, 61.5 percent are literate (Ministry of Tribal Affairs, 2013). However, remote forest-dwelling STs are generally characterized by their low literacy rates (Swaminathan, 2016).

3.2 Bhavanisagar

Bhavanisagar lies at the base of the Western Ghats in the rain shadow region approximately 23 km away from the STR. The rural town measures 282.5 km² (Prabhakar, 2017). It lies 256 m above mean sea level at 11°28'15" north and 77°6'50" east (CSTI, n.d.). The climate is semi-arid tropical, with average annual rainfall measuring 667 mm across 42 rainy days (TNAU Agritech Portal, 2013). Rainfall ranges from 600 mm to 800 mm, with 40.6 percent of rainfall deriving from the northeast monsoon (CSTI, n.d.). Temperatures range from 11.7 to 39.2 degrees Celsius. Irrigation in Bhavanisagar is supplied by the earthen Bhavanisagar Dam located on the Bhavani River (TNAU Agritech Portal, n.d.). The dam is supplied by both the Bhavani and Moyar Rivers (Sathyamangalam Tiger Reserve, n.d.). In the Community District (CD) Block of Bhavanisagar, 8.63 km² are irrigated by government canals, while 32.855 km² are irrigated using borewells and tubewells (Census of India, 2011). Borewells are vertically drilled wells cased with PVC pipes that extend to an aquifer. These wells are generally pumped using electrical pumps (India Water Portal, n.d.).

At the CD block-level, Bhavanisagar consists of 26 villages across 15 wards with a total population of 77,313 people (Census of India, 2011). The town itself comprises 2,134 households consisting of 7,710 residents (Chandramouli, 2011). The percentage of STs is 0.19 percent of the total CD block population. According to the 2011 census, 33.11 percent are farmers (Census of India, 2011). Crops grown include banana, coconut, paddy, sorghum, maize, peanut, turmeric, cotton, and tobacco, among other crops (TNAU Agritech Portal, 2013). The net sown area is 97.026 km², while the total irrigated area is 41.483 km². The remainder is rainfed. Approximately, 64.63 percent of CD block residents are literate (Census of India, 2011).



Figure 1: Map of case study sites Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve and Bhavanisagar, Erode District, Tamil Nadu, southern India (Google Earth, 2017).

4 Research Methodology

4.1 Introduction

The dissertation seeks to answer the following questions: 1) How do climate information and advisory services (CIS) contribute to farm-level resiliency to climatic risk; 2) How were CIS accessed and used during the 2016 drought; and 3) Do CIS producers and end-users' expectations align? In order to answer these questions, an extensive literature review along with fieldwork were undertaken. Question 1 is answered through the literature review in Chapter 2. Questions 2 and 3 were explored through the collection and analysis of empirical data in Chapters 5 and 6. The fieldwork involved two components and was conducted over a 10-day period from 16th June to 6th July 2017. Firstly, farmers in two case study communities - Bhavanisagar and the Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve (STR) – were interviewed using a general interview guide. Chapter 3 provides a comprehensive overview of the case study sites, including their geography and demographics. Secondly, semi-structured interviews were conducted with key informants across various government, non-governmental, and academic institutions. In total, 34 in-depth semi-structured interviews were conducted with 22 farmers (11 in each site) and 12 key informants. By examining both the existing literature and empirical evidence, this paper will provide a better understanding of the issues farmers face relating to access and use of CIS. In Chapter 4, the research strategies, site and sample selection methods, data collection techniques, frameworks for data analysis, and research limitations and problems will be discussed.

4.2 Research Strategy

A qualitative case study approach was selected to investigate the research questions given the focus on farmers' perceptions of climatic risks (i.e. 2016 drought) and CIS. Unlike the quantitative approach, qualitative data involves human interactions to produce information (Cleary et al., 2014). Qualitative researchers seek to comprehend the meaning behind phenomena and actions (Ercan and Marsh, 2016). Consequently, qualitative research has been criticized for its replicability, validity, representativeness, and reactivity (Katz, 2015). For an interpretivist, however, replicability and generalizability are irrelevant. The interpretivist epistemological position centers heavily on understanding, rather than explaining phenomenon (Ercan and Marsh, 2016). Interpretivism recognizes that participants and researchers' understanding and interpretation of the topic is influenced by their experiences (Schwandt, 1998). Additionally, it rejects theories and concepts for their reductionist nature. Rather, complexity is favored (Isaeva et al., 2015).

Additionally, a case study approach was selected to examine the 2016 drought event and CIS in Tamil Nadu (TN) amongst two vastly different farming populations. This approach is best used for research studying in-depth correlations and causal relationships (Gerring, 2004). Baxter and Jack write:

According to Yin (2003) a case study design should be considered when: (a) The focus of the study is to answer "how" and "why" questions; (b) you cannot manipulate the behaviour of those involved in the study; (c) you want to cover contextual conditions because you believe they are relevant to the phenomenon under study; or (d) the boundaries are not clear between the phenomenon and context (2008, p. 545).

The case study design process involved the selection of the unit of analysis and the 'binding' of the case (Baxter and Jack, 2008). For this research project the unit of analysis were Scheduled Tribe (ST) and non-ST farmers, and the case was bound by location (i.e. drought-prone Erode District, TN) and time (i.e. 2016 drought event). Underpinning the research strategy is the interpretivist research paradigm (Baškarada, 2014). The case study approach has been critiqued for the context-dependent information it produces, its generalizability, and bias confirmation; however, Flyvbjerg (2006) refutes many of these concerns. The author, for example, argues that context-dependent information is invaluable as it provides depth to one's understanding of a phenomenon (Flyvbjerg, 2006).

4.3 Site and Sample Selection

The case study sites were selected based on their climatic and socioeconomic differences. As the case studies were not intended to be representative of the population at-large, case selection procedures did not apply (Seawright and Gerring, 2008). The STR population was characterized by its forest-dwelling ST status, rainfed agriculture, organic and subsistence farming practices, and

lack of land ownership. In contrast, the Bhavanisagar population was characterized by its nontribal status, use of irrigation technologies, choice in water-intensive cash crops, land ownership, and access to government services and schemes. Some of these differences are expanded upon in Tables 1 and 2. The case study sites – both of which were greatly affected by the 2016 drought – also varied climatically as described in Chapter 3. These differences allowed for interesting insights into how non-tribal farmers and forest-dwelling ST farmers responded to the 2016 TN drought, as well as the barriers both groups face in accessing and using CIS to build farm-level resilience.

In total, 11 farmers from each site were interviewed – a total of 22 farmer interviews. Furthermore, 12 key informant interviews were conducted. Participant selection followed key guidelines laid out by Cleary et al. (2014), in that participants must be selected intentionally with the theoretical or conceptual framework in mind. The population from which the participants were selected from were able to provide me with interesting and critical information about CIS, resilience, and the 2016 drought. Little research has been conducted in the locations given their remoteness, which allowed for an opportunity to fill the gap in the literature. The communities in the STR, for example, are difficult to reach as they require government permission to enter the protected area (PA).

Interview respondents were selected using snowball sampling. Objectivity is not necessary in qualitative research; therefore, non-random sampling methods were appropriate to use (Longhurst, 2003). Snowball sampling is used to access populations that are difficult for researchers to contact without a list of population members (Heckathorn, 2011). According to Heckathorn (2011), snowball sampling is recommended for sample populations that are small, spread-out, difficult to reach, and/or stigmatized. This method, however, has been criticized ethically, as snowball sampling threatens the anonymity of research participants as the recommender is aware of their identity (Brace-Govan, 2004). Additionally, this sampling method often leads to sample homogeneity and requires recommenders to have good quality social networks (Fossey et al., 2002). Aside from snowball sampling, researchers can recruit or select participants through other means including cold-calling and group membership lists (Longhurst, 2003). Like farmer participants, key informants were also selected through snowball sampling by asking expert interviewees for referrals. In this case, snowball sampling was an effective means to build one's network (Brace-Govan, 2004). All 12 interviewees agreed to partake in the interview

process and answered all questions asked without hesitation. Table 3 includes detailed information about each key informant interviewed.

Code	Village	Sex	Acreage	Water Source	Farming Practice
FKT1	Mavanatham	М	2 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT1	Bejalatti	F	2 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT2	Bejalatti	М	-	Rainfed	Organic
FT3	Bejalatti	М	1 acre	Rainfed	Mixed
FT4	Bejalatti	М	1.5 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT5	Mavanatham	М	3 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT6	Mavanatham	М	4 acres	Flood Irrigation	Organic
FT7	Mavanatham	М	2 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT8	Mavanatham	М	2 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT9	Mavanatham	М	3 acres	Rainfed	Organic
FT10	Mavanatham	F	2.5 acres	Rainfed	Organic

Table 1: Farmers interviewed in the Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve.

Table 2: Farmers interviewed in Bhavanisagar.

Code	Sex	Acreage	Water Source	Farming Practice
FKB1	М	13 acres	Drip Irrigation	Organic
FKB2	М	3 acres	Drip Irrigation	Mixed
FB1	М	-	Drip Irrigation	Organic
FB2	М	2.5 acres	Flood Irrigation	Non-Organic
FB3	М	3 acres	Flood Irrigation and	Non-Organic
			Drip Irrigation	
FB4	М	6 acres	Rainfed and Drip Irrigation	Non-Organic
FB5	F	1.5 acres	Flood Irrigation	Mixed
FB6	F	20 acres	Rainfed, Flood Irrigation, and Drip Irrigation	Non-Organic
FB7	М	3.5 acres	Drip Irrigation	Organic

FB8	М	12 acres	Drip Irrigation	Mixed
FB9	F	4 acres	Flood Irrigation and	Organic
			Drip Irrigation	

Table 3: Key informants interviewed.

Code	Organization	Job Title
FKB1	Model Learning Farm, Tamil Nadu Organic Certification Dept.	Organic Farmer
FKB2	Erode District Central Cooperative Bank, Ltd.	President
FKT1	Keystone Foundation	Social Worker
K1	Meteorology Dept., Tamil Nadu Agricultural University	Agronomist
K2	Forestry Dept., Forest College	Dept. Head
K3	Forestry Dept., Forest College	Assistant Professor
K4	Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment	Research Fellow
K5	Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment	Researcher
K6	Bhavanisagar Horticulture Dept.	Horticulture Officer
K7	Bhavanisagar Horticulture Dept.	Horticulture Officer
K8	Erode District Central Cooperative Bank, Ltd.	Bank Secretary
К9	Rivulis Irrigation India Private, Ltd.	Salesman

By collecting both farmer and key informant interviews, it is possible to then triangulate the data (Wilson, 2014). Triangulation is the process by which more than one type of research approach is used to answer or explore questions (Heale and Forbes, 2013). The types of triangulation involved in the study were methodological triangulation (i.e. semi-structured key informant and farmer interviews) and data triangulation (i.e. Bhavanisagar farmers, STR farmers, and key informants) (Adams et al., 2015). Data triangulation of multiple sources improves the reliability, validity and objectivity of one's research and helps achieve data saturation sooner (Fusch and Ness, 2015). The use of data saturation is discussed in section 4.4. Moreover, data triangulation promotes depth and reliability of the data and its methodologies (Wilson, 2014). Through data triangulation, findings may converge, diverge, or complement one another providing interesting insights and increasing the validity of the research findings in the case of converging results (Heale and Forbes, 2013).

4.4 Data Collection Techniques

In-depth semi-structured interviews were conducted with 12 key informants and 22 farmers across two case study sites – Bhavanisagar and the STR. On average, interviews lasted approximately 45 minutes and were facilitated by an interpreter. Semi-structured interviews, unlike structured interviews, are flexible allowing the researcher to gather additional responses beyond a pre-defined set of questions to explore new concepts (Baškarada, 2014). The sample size, interview questions asked, and duration of interviews helped to ensure that the data was of high quality. If using an interview approach, a smaller sample size is preferred if the intent is to conduct in-depth interviews and an analysis of a given phenomenon. A large sample size does not generally equate to better results or analysis (Cleary et al., 2014).

Given the semi-structured nature of the interviews, a general interview guide was produced for key informant and farmer interviews (refer to Appendices A and B). Farmer interview questions were divided into four categories: 1) background; 2) climatic risks, impacts, and resilience; 3) access to and use of CIS; and 4) government and/or NGO involvement in CIS delivery and other services. Key informant questions were divided into similar categories: 1) background and experience; 2) understanding of the climatic risks, impacts and resiliency of farmers; 3) production and/or delivery of CIS; and 4) farmers' access to and use of CIS. The interview responses were hand-recorded in a notebook and reviewed by the interpreter for accuracy during daily debriefing sessions. Notes also included daily weather observations from the field. The data was stored and protected as per CUREC guidelines. Additionally, it is important to note that local terminology was used during the interview process such as *agro-met advisories* in place of climate information service and *patta* for land title deeds.

Interviews were collected until data saturation was achieved. Data saturation is the point at which no new information can be learned (Mason, 2010). Information and coding saturation must be reached for each category in depth and breadth (Creswell and Poth, 2017). Fusch and Ness (2015) add that data saturation is achieved when there is enough data available for replication. As data collection involved long in-depth interviews with farmers from homogenous communities,

data saturation was reached within the 10-day period (O'Reilly and Parker, 2013). Additionally, in research that focuses on exploring local phenomenon rather than making generalizations, such as this dissertation study, data saturation is more quickly achieved (Charmaz, 2006). In order to determine whether saturation has been reached, the researcher must analyze responses after each interview. It can be difficult for the researcher to know for certain that no new information will appear in subsequent interviews (Cleary et al., 2014). The concept of data saturation has been critiqued for its limitless possibilities. While a category may appear to be saturated, more information may come from it if explored though another lens (Mason, 2010). Moreover, biases from the researcher's personal lens are also of concern when determining whether data saturation is achieved. To ensure that my personal lens was minimized, I recognized my biases, views, and motivations beforehand to ensure that the data did not reflect my worldview (Fusch and Ness, 2015). Data saturation was the most useful principle by which to determine my sample size and minimize concerns about data validity and reliability

Other qualitative approaches, such as focus group discussions, were deemed inappropriate means by which to answer the research questions. Focus group discussions are used by researchers who seek to understand their research questions through group dynamics (Cleary et al., 2014). These interactions between heterogeneous populations provide additional insights into the ways in which socioeconomic, cultural, religious or political status relate to or influence a given phenomenon (Kamberelis and Dimitriadis, 2013). Given the homogeneity of the populations in each site, as well as the types of questions asked, it became clear that one-on-one interviews were the best means by which to gather detailed information. Moreover, the participants lived far apart from one another – particularly those in Bhavanisagar – and were busy with farming given that it was the kharif cropping season, which occurs from July through to October. Many farmers are restricted in how they move around without cars or motorbikes. This posed logistical challenges that contributed to the selection of an interview approach. It had been attempted to form focus groups after my arrival to India; however, due to these difficulties, only 3-4 individuals agreed to partake. In focus group discussions with under 5 participants, a researcher may face problems in data quality. With small discussion groups, it is difficult to achieve a sufficient amount of information pertinent to the research questions. Additionally, participants may be reluctant to speak or may engineer their responses to be socially correct when around others (Cleary et al., 2014).

4.5 Framework for Data Analysis

The basic framework for data analysis involves five main steps: 1) Data collection; 2) Electronic data transcription; 3) Data coding; 4) Data description; and 5) Data analysis (Figure 2). As discussed in Section 4.4, data collection involved fieldwork in TN. Semi-structured in-depth interviews were conducted with key informants, as well as with farmers in two case study sites. Upon returning to the UK on 15th July 2017, data was transcribed electronically and then coded using NVivo. NVivo is a qualitative data analysis computer software package that allows for the analysis of qualitative data to be completed more quickly freeing up time for the researcher to "discover tendencies, recognize themes and derive conclusions" (Hilal and Alabri, 2013, p. 182). NVivo was also selected as a way to minimize human error in data analysis given the complexity and number of interview responses. Software like NVivo ensures that the data analysis is far more accurate than manual analysis, as coding guarantees that no data are missed during the analysis phase (Welsh, 2002). The software is appropriate for various research strategies and data analysis methods (Zamawe, 2015). Compared with other software like Leximancer, NVivo was found to best code and analyze data (Sotiriadou et al., 2014).

Thematic coding is an important process in qualitative research analysis (Castleberry, 2014). Thus, key informant interviews were coded into three main categories or 'nodes': 1) Key informant characteristics; 2) Climatic risks and resilience; and 3) Agricultural systems. Each of these nodes were then further divided into sub-categories (Appendix C). Farmer interviews were coded into five nodes: 1) Demographic factors; 2) Climate variability; 3) Farm characteristics; 4) Irrigation and water sources; and 5) External support. A more detailed figure displaying the sub-categories can be found in Appendix D. After coding was completed, data was described and then analyzed. Key informant interview findings were compared against farmer interview findings. Interview results between Bhavanisagar and STR farmers were compared. Additionally, the literature review results were compared against the case study results. Data was analyzed using an interpretive approach for qualitative data. The interpretive approach requires that the researcher interpret the meaning of interviewees' responses (Welsh, 2002).



Figure 2: Qualitative data analysis process for STR and Bhavanisagar case study.

4.6 Limitations and Potential Problems

My main limitation as a qualitative researcher was the language barrier. Without any knowledge of the Tamil language, I was completely reliant on an interpreter. Given financial constraints, the Ashoka Trust for Research in Ecology and the Environment (ATREE) generously provided me with one of their researchers to serve as my interpreter free-of-cost. Temple (2002) reminds researchers that they should not ignore the limitations of interpreters, as they are "active producers in the research process" (p. 846). Bujra (2006) identified the following limitations in using an interpreter, such as the ways in which: 1) A researcher and their research is introduced to interviewees; 2) Responses are translated either literally or colloquially (and consequently risk losing sociological data); 3) Content is filtered by an interpreter, who decides what information is important without consulting the researcher; and 4) Power dynamics play out between the researcher, interpreter and interviewee. I attempted to minimize these interpretation issues by conducting daily debriefing sessions with my interpreter. During these sessions, we explored nuances, revisited and expanded upon concepts, and defined local terminology that does not necessarily have a direct English translation.

5 Results: Description and Analysis

5.1 Observations

While conducting fieldwork in the Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve (STR) and Bhavanisagar, I observed stark differences in climate and vegetation between the two case study sites. The densely forested STR was noticeably cooler and greener than Bhavanisagar. In contrast, Bhavanisagar was far more arid. The vegetation consisted largely of cacti and short shrubs. During the nearly two-week period that I was in the field, it only rained once in Bhavanisagar and twice in the STR. The impact of the drought was observed in the Bhavanisagar canal and a watering hole in the STR. During a 2-mile long drive alongside a canal connected to the Bhavanisagar Dam, I observed that certain sections had completely dried up. I was told by farmer FB7 (2017), whose farm ran parallel to the canal, and K7 (2017) from the Bhavanisagar Horticulture Department that it was the first time they had seen it dry. As for the STR, the interpreter assisting in the research project remarked that a watering hole at the periphery of Mavanatham Village was noticeably drier than it had been when he had last visited in March 2017 (Vivekh 2017, personal communication, 05 July).

5.2 Semi-Structured Interviews

Farmers in both Bhavanisagar and the STR receive climate information and advisory services (CIS) largely through the television (Figure 3). The services are conveyed as short segments on the state or national news networks. The information presented is short-range weather forecasts that provide daily or weekly rainfall data at the state- or district-levels. Due to the type of information presented and how it is delivered, the services have been criticized as inaccurate, inaccessible (due to language, geographical and/or technical barriers), non-targeted (e.g. CIS is not tailored to organic farmers), and infrequently and unpredictably delivered (Figure 4). In its current form, the CIS accessed and used by Bhavanisagar and STR farmers is only useful for day-to-day activities, such as irrigation, fertilizer and pesticide application, plowing, sowing, weeding, and harvesting (Figure 5). More specifically, farmers stated that the decisions were whether to act

on the aforementioned activities the next day or to hold off for another day when weather conditions were more favorable. For farmers in the STR who are unable to install irrigation technologies due to lacking land rights, the short-range weather forecasts have less use. Shortrange forecasts are unable to assist farmers in farm-level decision-making during droughts.



Figure 3: Farmer responses in STR and Bhavanisagar on how they access CIS.



Figure 4: Farmer responses in STR and Bhavanisagar on the shortcomings of CIS.



Figure 5: Farmer responses in STR and Bhavanisagar on uses of CIS in farm-level decisionmaking.

CIS must not only provide enough lead-time for end-users to make use of the information they provide, but must also address the shortcomings the farmers identified in the interviews discussed above. Due to limitations in language, geography and technology, information must be delivered so that it will reach the greatest number of farmers. Of greatest concern are marginalized rainfed farmers like the forest-dwelling scheduled tribes (STs) residing in the STR. CIS producers do not typically consider rainfed farmers when designing CIS services, as they do not contribute to large-scale food security (K4, 2017). While farmers in both communities raised similar concerns about CIS and drought impacts, forest-dwelling STs face additional challenges that exacerbate their vulnerability to climatic risks.

As discussed in Chapter 2, forest-dwelling STs residing in the STR are unable to claim individual land rights due to a stall in the implementation of The Scheduled Tribes and Other Traditional Forest Dwellers (Recognition of Forest Rights) Act, 2006 (FRA). Without land rights, farmers in Mavanatham Village are unable to install irrigation systems. The only STR farmer interviewed with irrigation had installed the technology 20 years ago with the assistance of an NGO no longer operating in the area (FT6, 2017). The installation occurred before the park was declared a protected area (PA) in 2008 (Kedlaya, 2013). While land rights were not raised in the interviews in Bejalatti Village, FT3 (2017) cited government inaction in the construction of a small irrigation dam. He, along with 40 to 45 farmers, lobbied the local government to build a dam, but the government has not yet approved it for fear of its potential impacts on local wildlife (FT3, 2017). Consequently, unlike the farmers interviewed in Bhavanisagar, all but one farmer in the STR depend upon rainfall rather than irrigation technology to water their crops. Even with irrigation, Bhavanisagar experienced crop losses, as groundwater and reservoir levels dropped. Therefore, without reliable access to water resources in both communities, it is important that these farmers access CIS for effective farm-level decision-making.

Given the remote geography of the STR and high rates of illiteracy amongst forest-dwelling STs, CIS should be delivered through TV. TVs were delivered to each farmer in the STR five years ago as part of a government scheme (FT8, 2017). Other modes of delivery, such as SMS and the Internet, are inaccessible given the poor cell and data signals. While Bhavanisagar farmers have more modes of delivery available to them given their higher literacy rates and access to technology, they too prefer TV news to receive information. CIS delivered through TV programs are more engaging than their alternatives given their visual component. As weather forecasts are typically

delivered between commercial breaks, farmers are more likely to be exposed to CIS. Some of the farmers interviewed recommended that the state create a television channel solely dedicated to CIS. Unfortunately, however, the farmers have not yet had an opportunity to express these views to the government, as none were solicited for feedback about their access to and use of CIS. The importance of end-user feedback became clear in K1's interview.

When asked about illiterate and socially marginalized farmers' access to CIS, K1 (2017) responded, "the only marginalized group in India are farmers, all of whom receive SMS [Short Message Service] messages. Now, even illiterate people can access the services." The on-theground farmer interviews contradicted K1's (2017) statement and highlighted a lack of awareness and disconnect between the CIS producers and end-users. While K1 (2017) proclaimed that SMS texts are accessible to all farmers, the empirical evidence demonstrates that this is incorrect. In the remote STR, cell signal does not work (FT5, 2017). Many of the STR farmers are also illiterate and/or do not have access to mobile phones. Moreover, despite an overwhelming preference by farmers for rainfall data, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University (TNAU) is developing targeted CIS centered on *agricultural information*, such as pest and disease incidence, fertilizer application, and market prices. The Bhavanisagar Horticulture Department also fails to train or provide farmers with weather or climate information in its annual Kisan SMS training (K7, 2017). In fact, there are no government departments or organizations operating in Bhavanisagar that train or raise farmers' awareness on weather or climate (K7, 2017). Similarly, there are no government institutions or non-governmental organizations in the STR that provide CIS training, services, or awareness to farmers (FKT1, 2017).

While farmers expressed interest in accessing and using CIS to build resilience to droughts, some key informants were skeptical of their willingness to use the services. Due to the deficiencies in CIS and short-range forecasts, farmers living in the STR are more likely to predict daily rainfall using traditional knowledge (K3, 2017). For example, FT1 (2017) prefers to use her own knowledge and experiences than short-range forecasts from the TV, which she finds inaccurate. Access to services does not guarantee use of services (FKT1, 2017). In the following chapter, I will explore in greater depth the role of CIS in drought resilience. For a more comprehensive summary of the findings, please refer to Tables 4 and 5.
Table 4: Farmer responses and selected quotes.

Торіс	FB	FT	Selected Quotes
Perceived	11/11	9/11	FKB2: "Last year was the first time in the past 20 to 30 years that we had a water shortage. The level
droughts to			of my open well decreased, although my crops survived. Unfortunately, my neighbors' crops dried."
be increasing			FB2: "Over the last 2 to 3 years, there has been a decrease in rainfall resulting in water shortages. Last
over the past			year's drought was worse than the others."
three years			FB7: "For the past 2 years, I have had to leave between 1 and 1.5 acres fallow because of water
			shortages. The shortage has affected an additional 1 to 2.5 acres of crops."
			FT8: "I have noticed a decrease in rainfall over the last 2 years. It is the first time we have had water
			shortages in the past 50 to 60 years."
2016 drought	6/11	8/11	FB3: "I use flood irrigation to irrigate paddy daily, but with the drought I have had to reduce the amount
impacts			I grow. Due to the water shortage, the Bhavanisagar Dam authorities have had to cut the water supply.
			They only give a 1 to 2-day warning in the newspaper."
			FB6: "I normally make between ₹400,000 and ₹500,000 per year, but last year I only made ₹300,000.
			10 years ago, we had a water shortage issue. The one that began 1.5 years ago is even worse. I lost 100
			percent of my crops across 4 or 5 acres. It is the first time that this many acres of jasmine have dried."
			FB8: "I use the Bhavanisagar Dam to irrigate my paddy, but for the past two years the dam has gone
			dry. Last year, I needed to use the water from my open well for the paddy. Therefore, I grew less paddy
			this year."
			FKT1: "In 2016, all the villagers lost half of their crops. This affected income and food consumption."

			 FT1: "My crops lost half their value last year. I was not compensated by the government as I live in a settlement area." FT8: "Last year, I lost half of my crops and profits to the drought. I had to borrow money from a local moneylender. If I had access to irrigation technology, I would not have to worry about water shortages. I cannot drill a well, however, as I do not have <i>patta</i> [land title deed]. Neither the Forest Department nor the <i>panchayat</i> [local government] will not allow me to. It would also be expensive to do so." FT9: "For the past two years, my profits have dropped from ₹100,000 per year to ₹20,000 due to drought."
Accessed	9/11	8/11	FKB2: "I do not trust 90 percent of the weather information I receive from TV. I also had been using
CIS			the Kisan mobile app for the last 2 years, but a few months back the app suddenly stopped working. I
			do not know what happened or how to fix it."
			FB2: "I have received rainfall and temperature information through TV every day for the past 20 years.
			I do not use this information though, as it is unreliable. If they say it will rain here, it rains instead in
			another village."
			FB5: "I prefer to access rainfall information on the TV, as I do not know how to use a mobile phone
			and cannot read."
			FB6: "I watch the weather news occasionally on TV, but the information is too general. I do not know
			where else I can find this type of information."
			FB7: "I learned about the Kisan SMS through TNAU, but seldom use it. As an organic farmer, I do
			not find the service applicable to me, as the information is too focused on non-organic farming. Also,
			it is unpredictable when I will receive a message."

			 FB8: "I sought agro-met advisories 5 years ago, because I thought it would be helpful. I am satisfied with the information I receive, although it is not correct 25 percent of the time. My only other issue is with Kisan SMS, as the messages are mostly in English. Most of us do not know English." FT1: "I occasionally watch TV weather news, but the information is too basic. I rather use my own traditional knowledge to predict rainfall." FT7: "I am only able to access the information on TV, as I do not have access to a radio and cannot
			read. If the information were more reliable, I would use it to plan farming activities." FT9: "If the short-range forecasts were more reliable, I would be able to use them to decide when to
			plow and apply manure."
Used CIS to	0/11	0/11	FKB2: "The short-term information I receive does not help anticipate droughts. I would need longer-
prepare for			range forecasts to plan ahead of the season. The information last year about the drought came too late
2016 drought			to be useful."
			FT2: "The information I receive through TV and radio is too general. To prepare for droughts, I would
			like village-level information and for information to be delivered to me with enough time to make
			preparations."
			FT5: "I did not know about CIS or agrometeorological advisories, but would like to have access to
			monthly or seasonal rainfall information so that I can better prepare for water shortages like last year's.
			I think it would be most convenient to access it through SMS, but the cell signal is very bad. We also
			do not have Internet access."
			FT8: "The daily and weekly rainfall information I currently get only helps plan some day-to-day
			activities. Information that looks further into the future would be more useful."

Table 5: Key informant responses and selected quotes.

Topic	Selected Quotes				
Climate	FKB1: "Last year the drought was particularly bad, as we did not get proper rainfall. This year, even drinking water				
Variability,	availability was impacted. Of all groups, farmers are most impacted by climate change."				
Impacts and	K1: "Consecutive droughts are happening more frequently, and rainfall is shrinking. The onset of the monsoon is				
Resilience	right, but long dry spells have been occurring afterwards."				
	K6: "Horticulture crops are most sensitive to droughts and are not grown in rainfed farms. Despite the drought				
	conditions, farmers will not switch crops to less water-intensive crops due to sentimental or labor issues. These				
	droughts impact farmers by reducing their yields and incomes; however, most farmers impacted live outside				
	Bhavanisagar. Bhavanisagar farmers are less affected by climate variability, as they have access to the Bhavani River				
	and the Bhavanisagar Dam for irrigation."				
	K8: "Guideline Order (Ms) No. 59 was introduced last year as a loan forgiveness scheme for marginal and				
	smallholder farmers due to the 2016 state-wide drought."				
	K9: "Farmers in the Erode District are not aware of climate change."				
Farmers'	FKB1: "Forecasting technologies are not made readily available for members of the community. For example,				
access to and	information is available on the Internet, but it is not accessible to the farmers here. Additionally, data is not provided				
use of CIS	on the farm-level. If farmers had access to farm-level rainfall information, they would use CIS to plan their farming				
	activities."				
	FKT1: "TV is the best way for farmers here to receive CIS, as many of the farmers are illiterate and the signal is				
	poor. Only my generation [20s] is literate, so we have a responsibility to convey climate information to our parents.				
	I think that another option to transmit information could be self-help groups, but we do not have any currently				

established here. While the information is available to farmers on TV and word-of-mouth, farmers do not use this information."

K1: "Extreme weather events increase awareness of climate change amongst farmers. Now, farmers want to use CIS whereas beforehand, they made jokes about weather forecasts. Farmers are using CIS for farming and even property development purposes. We conducted a study 3 or 4 years ago looking at the economic benefits of seasonal climate forecasting for paddy, tomato, and banana farmers. We found that profit increased by 8 to 15 percent. Farmers are generally happy with CIS."

K3: "In Bhavanisagar, farmers can visit the center of town to get information from a met office bulletin board that displays daily temperature and rainfall or through the TNAU met website. As for farmers in the tiger reserve, I do not think that they would use CIS, as they have long relied on traditional knowledge to determine daily rainfall. According to them, the short-range forecasts are just as effective as their traditional knowledge."

K4: "CIS targets irrigated farmers, not marginalized rainfed farmers."

K6: "Farmers in Bhavanisagar are using the Kisan app for weather forecasts, availability of fertilizers, and market prices."

K7: "Bhavanisagar farmers rely largely on TV for weather forecasts to plan their farming activities. Admittedly, farmers do not find the information to be 100% accurate given how general it is at the state- or district-levels. We provide training for 300 farmers each year on how to use the Kisan SMS. We have provided the training for the last three years. We do not discuss weather or climate, nor are there any government departments in Bhavanisagar that communicate climate information."

6 Discussion

6.1 The Broader Context

Adaptive capacity to climatic risks are found to be lowest amongst those that are marginalized, illiterate, poor, and own little to no land (Tripathi and Mishra, 2016). These communities lack the information and economic resources needed to reduce climatic vulnerabilities and build agricultural resilience (Howe et al., 2014). Additionally, due to the speed at which the climate is changing, local knowledge is also becoming less relevant (Tall et al., 2014). As a result, van Etten et al. (2017) put forth the data revolution as a solution of which Climate Information and Advisory Services (CIS) is one component. For smallholder rainfed farmers who previously relied on traditional knowledge to predict rainfall patterns, CIS can create a new reservoir of knowledge from which to make safer and more efficient decisions (van Etten et al., 2017). However, CIS producers must design CIS so that issues of equal access and use are taken into consideration. The data revolution must be both effective and ethical. Adams et al. (2015) stress that CIS producers must: 1) Co-produce knowledge through public participation; 2) Consider climatic and non-climatic vulnerabilities; 3) Communicate CIS clearly; 4) Easily be able to revise their services; and 5) Be targeted and village-specific. In addition to these guidelines, Tall et al. (2014) propose that CIS: 1) Have sustained interaction between institutions and farmers; 2) Be delivered locally; 3) Have diverse products with various lead times; 4) Allow for farmer feedback; 5) Integrate scientific and local knowledge; 6) Include face-to-face dialogue; 7) Have diverse communication channels; and 8) Target women and marginalized groups. These CIS best practices should be considered by CIS producers in Tamil Nadu (TN) to increase farmers' access to CIS and to bridge the divide between CIS producer expectations and farmer realities.

Furthermore, in order to improve access to CIS, the Indian government will need to adopt a user-centered design reliant on user feedback (van Etten et al., 2017). According to van Etten et al. (2017) this will require significant financial and regulatory investments to create sustainable, accessible, and useful CIS. CIS should also promote climate-smart agriculture (CSA). CSA is defined by the CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS) as an agricultural approach that: 1) sustainably increasing agricultural productivity, to support equitable increases in farm incomes, food security and development; 2) adapting and building resilience of agricultural and food security systems to climate change at multiple levels; and 3) reducing greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture (including crops, livestock and fisheries) (CCAFS and UNFAO, 2014).

CIS can scale-up CSA to ensure that populations increase their adaptive capacities and agricultural resilience (Rodríguez et al., 2017).

During the 2016-2017 drought event, new and promising CIS were developed. In TN, satellite data analytics company, Satsure, offered to provide satellite information that "can calculate the actual availability of water in the plants; determine the strength of the crops and identify the stressed and the non-stressed areas; and accordingly schedule your irrigation" (Kedia, 2017). The production and delivery of CIS from a private company may provide a suitable alternative to that of public institutions which are in a poor state. Balaji and Craufurd (2011) found in an analysis of agricultural extension services and climate information in the Indo-Gangetic Plains that government CIS producers are poorly organized. Additionally, a program similar to that of the Watershed Organisation Trust (WTO) and the Indian Meteorological Department (IMD) should be considered. While the WTO and IMD program centers on short-range and not seasonal forecasts, it still has positive results. Their short-range forecasts were localized and delivered every hour of every day. Moreover, it sought the feedback of its users, which consist of 6,300 households. As a result, 93 percent of farmers thought the services were reliable and used the information to make farm-level decisions, and 57 percent thought that timeliness in CIS delivery improved (Lobo et al., 2017).

6.2 Reflections

The research requires further exploration into drought resilience in the STR and Bhavanisagar farming communities. At the conclusion of this research project, certain questions still exist particularly: 1) To what extent do CIS improve resiliency as compared with other measures (i.e. irrigation, organic farming practices, crop selection, livelihood diversification, etc.); 2) Which community is more resilient to climate variability than the other; 3) How can public participation improve CIS production, delivery, access and/or use; 4) and What is the role of NGOs in delivering CIS? In order to respond to these questions, it is important to spend an extended period at the study site and increase the number of farmers and key informants interviewed. Additionally, it would be of interest to follow-up with the research project within the next few years given the dynamic status of the communities and climate. For example, once implementation of the FRA is underway in the STR, it could dramatically change the STs' ability to cope with droughts. K1 (2017) also stated during their interview that Tamil Nadu Agricultural University (TNAU) is developing targeted farm-level advisories and seasonal climate forecasting tools. The historic TN drought is also still ongoing with increasing civil unrest and political pressures.

7 Conclusion

The 2016 drought event impacted 25 percent of Indian citizens across 10 states (Choudhury and Sindhi, 2017). The drought has continued to persist into 2017. In Tamil Nadu (TN), 8 of its 32 districts are classified as drought-prone (Manikandan and Tamilmani, 2015). On 1st April 2017, it was reported that reservoir levels in TN's major reservoirs sunk to 8 percent of their total storage capacity. In response, the Tamil Nadu Water Supply and Drainage Board limited the water supply by 75 percent (Mariappanl, 2017). Farmers relying on the dam for irrigation suffered lower productivity as inflow decreased and reservoirs dried. Groundwater levels in the Erode District also dropped from January 2016 to May 2017 by 7 m. Compared with other districts in TN, the Erode District saw the sharpest declines in groundwater levels. This decrease in groundwater is attributed to increased drilling of wells in response to the drought, as well as a preference for waterintensive crops like coconut, sugarcane, and maize (Vaitheesvaran, 2017). Without rainfall, the water table is unable to recharge. Consequently, farmers have begun to sell livestock and farmland leaving many economically depressed (Kannan, 2017). Due to devastating crop losses, many farmers have resorted to taking their lives since the drought began in 2016 (DT Next, 2016). The Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary and Tiger Reserve (STR) also experienced drought beginning in February 2017 (TNN, 2017). Wildlife living in the STR were dying from food shortages brought on by insufficient rainfall. As a result, the Forest Department invested in artificial water-bodies for wildlife (Kotteswaran, 2017). In desperation, villagers residing in the STR began to drink from elephant water troughs. It was not until 22nd June 2017 that residents and wildlife of the STR began to receive some respite from the months-long drought (TNN, 2017).

In order to bring attention to the crisis and to request assistance, TN farmers traveled north to Delhi to conduct a strike demanding the creation of a drought relief package, a farm loan waiver, and a Cauvery Management Board. The protests began in late March 2017 and extended to August 2017. On 23rd April 2017, the chief minister of TN promised to meet the strikers' demands resulting in a hiatus in May; however, the minister did not follow through on his promise (Kapoor, 2017). The farmers have since resumed their protest (Mani, 2017). As recently as 21st August 2017, the farmers began requesting to meet with the Indian president and prime minister about their situation, as they felt ignored by state politicians. In a memorandum to the president, the farmers

have asked for permission to commit suicide if their demands are unmet (Express News Service, 2017). It is imperative to understand not only how TN farmers arrived at this situation, but, more importantly, what adaptation strategies exist to minimize similar crop and profit losses in the future.

This paper sought to better understand climate information and advisory services (CIS) as an adaptation strategy to build farmers' resilience to droughts. The paper explored: 1) How CIS contribute to farm-level resilience to climatic risks; 2) How CIS were accessed and used during the 2016 drought; and 3) Whether CIS producers and end-users' expectations aligned. As evidenced in the literature review and the empirical data, CIS can build agricultural resilience to droughts by supporting farmer decision-making and management of climatic risks (Tall et al., 2014). In order to design effective CIS, CIS producers must proactively solicit feedback from endusers to identify challenges and solutions to access and use (Chattopadhyay et al., 2016). The dissertation identified a disconnect between CIS producers and farmers resulting in poor access and use of CIS by the sample populations. Some of the issues leading to farmer dissatisfaction were that CIS were inaccessible, delivered infrequently or unpredictably, and were inaccurate as they were district- or state-level forecasts. Additionally, short-range forecasts proved useless to farmers in mitigating the impacts of the 2016 drought. Farmers preferred to receive seasonal climate forecasts that can inform their decision-making of what to sow, whether to leave land fallow, and whether to diversify their livelihoods, among other decisions. Instead, CIS producers have continued to deliver short-range forecasts focused heavily on agricultural production than on meteorological conditions.

The implications of these findings go beyond the case study sites and India itself. As addressed in Chapters 1 and 2, the research contributes to the body of work on CIS, which lacks empirical data on CIS challenges in the case study sites, its populations, and in similar communities in India. Additionally, research has not yet been published exploring how CIS were used in the historic 2016-2017 Indian drought. The empirical findings in this paper have produced new knowledge relevant to CIS producers within TN and in other regions suffering from climate variability induced by climate change and the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO). Other than India, regions like the Sahel, southern Africa, central and southwest Asia, and parts of South America experience devastating climate change and ENSO-related droughts that are expected to intensify in the upcoming decades (Wang et al., 2014). Additionally, with the predicted 2-degree

Celsius increase in global temperatures as a result of climate change, crop yields worldwide are expected to decline. Rice yields, for example, are expected to drop by 0.75 ton/ha (Sivaraj and Philip, 2015).

The need to adapt extends beyond the individual level. Climate change and ENSO threaten agrarian livelihoods, as well as agriculture-based economies and food security (Cashin et al., 2017). Globally, demand for major crops like maize, wheat and rice is expected to rise by up to 110 percent beyond that of 2005 (Iizumi et al., 2014). CIS should be used as a tool to protect the economic wellbeing of farmers, as well as national GDP and food security. CIS can help farmers and governments respond to climatic risks thus minimizing malnutrition and economic crises, as well as improving resilience (Iizumi et al., 2014). There is need for further investigation into CIS's benefits at the community, state and national levels. Additionally, researchers and governments must explore ways to improve CIS' efficacy in improving resilience to droughts and other climatic risks. CIS is not a substitution for other adaptation strategies. Rather, it should be used as a tool for farmers in decision-making and selecting adaptation, or mulching, (Rao and Rao, 2016).

References

- (CSTI), C. S. T. I. Geography and Agro-Climatic Conditions. Available at: http://www.cstibhavanisagar.org/pdf/csti/GEOGRAPHY%20&%20AGRO-CLIMATIC%20CONDITIONS.pdf.
- Adams, J., Bateman, B., Becker, F., Cresswell, T., Flynn, D., McNaughton, R., Oluboyede, Y., Robalino, S., Ternent, L., Sood, B. G., Michie, S., Shucksmith, J., Sniehotta, F. F. and Wigham, S. (2015a) Effectiveness and acceptability of parental financial incentives and quasi-mandatory schemes for increasing uptake of vaccinations in preschool children : systematic review, qualitative study and discrete choice experiment. Health Technology Assessment (19 vols).
- Adams, P., Hewitson, B., Vaughan, C., Wilby, R., Zebiak, S., Eitland, E. and Secretariat, W. (2015b) 'Call for an Ethical Framework for Climate Services', WMO Bulletin, 64(2), pp. 51-54.
- Adhikary, M. (2014) 'Development Programmes for Primitive Tribal Groups and Their Present Economic Condition–A Case Study of Birhor Tribe in Purulia District', Society Today, 3(1), pp. 40-53.
- Affairs, M. o. T., Division, S. (2013) Statistical Profile of Scheduled Tribes in India 2013.
- Anderies, J. M., Janssen, M. A. and Ostrom, E. (2004) 'A Framework to Analyze the Robustness of Social-ecological Systems from an Institutional Perspective', Ecology and Society, 9(1), pp. 1-17.
- Arasu, S. (2017a) 'How a conflict between different ideas of conservation is hurting the adivasis of Tamil Nadu', The News Minute, 23 June 2017. Available at: http://www.thenewsminute.com/article/how-conflict-between-different-ideasconservation-hurting-adivasis-tamil-nadu-64103.
- Arasu, S. (2017b) 'Protecting forests with law: What Tamil Nadu can learn from Kerala's Kadar tribe', The News Minute, 26 June 2017. Available at: http://www.thenewsminute.com/article/protecting-forests-law-what-tamil-nadu-canlearn-kerala-s-kadar-tribe-64230.

- Arasu, S. (2017c) 'Tamil Nadu govt turns a blind eye to Forest Rights Act, but the law is empowering forest-dwellers', The News Minute, 08 June 2017. Available at: http://www.thenewsminute.com/article/tamil-nadu-govt-turns-blind-eye-forest-rights-actit-empowering-forest-dwellers-63321.
- Arasu, S. (2017d) 'Whose forest is it anyway? Tamil Nadu's disastrous disregard for the Forest Rights Act', The News Minute, 31 May 2017. Available at: http://www.thenewsminute.com/article/whose-forest-it-anyway-tamil-nadu-s-disastrousdisregard-forest-rights-act-62940.
- Azad, S. and Rajeevan, M. (2016) 'Possible shift in the ENSO-Indian monsoon rainfall relationship under future global warming', Scientific Reports, 6, pp. 1-6.
- Balaji, V. and Craufurd, P. 2011. Using information and communication technologies to disseminate and exchange agriculture-related climate information in the Indo Gangetic Plains. Copenhagen: CCAFS.
- Barnes, C., Van Laerhoven, F. and Driessen, P. P. (2016) 'Advocating for Change? How a Civil Society-led Coalition Influences the Implementation of the Forest Rights Act in India', World Development, 84, pp. 162-175.
- Baxter, P. and Jack, S. (2008) 'Qualitative Case Study Methodology: Study Design and Implementation for Novice Researchers', The Qualitative Report, 13(4), pp. 544-559.
- Baškarada, S. (2014) 'Qualitative Case Study Guidelines', The Qualitative Report, 19(40), pp. 1-18.
- Belakeri, P., Prasad, C. K., Bajantri, S., Mahantesh, M. T., Maruthi, S. T. and Rudresh, G. N. (2017) 'Trends of Mobile Applications in Farming', International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 6(7), pp. 2499-2512.
- Bhamra, R., Dani, S. and Burnard, K. (2011) 'Resilience: the concept, a literature review and future directions', International Journal of Production Research, 49(18), pp. 5375–5393.
 Blunden, J., Arndt, D.S. (2017) 'State of the Climate in 2016', Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 98(8), pp. 1-298.
- Bose, P., Arts, B. and van Dijk, H. (2012) 'Forest governmentality': A genealogy of subjectmaking of forest-dependent 'scheduled tribes' in India', Land Use Policy, 29(3), pp. 664-673.

- Brace-Govan, J. (2004) 'Issues in Snowball Sampling: The Lawyer, the Model and Ethics', Qualitative Research Journal, 4(1), pp. 52-60.
- Bujra, J. (2006) 'Lost in translation? The use of interpreters in fieldwork', in Desai, V. & Potter,R.B. (eds.) Doing development research. London: Sage, pp. 172-179.
- Cai, W., Borlace, S., Lengaigne, M., van Rensch, P., Collins, M., Vecchi, G., Timmermann, A., Santoso, A., McPhaden, M. J., Wu, L., England, M. H., Wang, G., Guilyardi, E. and Jin, F.-F. (2014) 'Increasing frequency of extreme El Nino events due to greenhouse warming', Nature, 4(2), pp. 111-116.
- Cashin, P., Mohaddes, K. and Raissi, M. (2017) 'Fair weather or foul? The macroeconomic effects of El Niño', Journal of International Economics, 106, pp. 37-54.
- Castleberry, A. (2014) 'NVivo 10 [software program]. Version 10. QSR International; 2012.', American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 78(1), pp. 1-2.
- CCAFS and UNFAO (2014) Questions & Answers: Knowledge on Climate-Smart Agriculture. Rome.
- CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, A. a. F. S. C. How farmers around the world are making decisions based on weather and climate information.
- Chandramouli, C., India, C.O.o. (2011) Population Census 2011.
- Chandramouli, C., Affairs, M.o.H. (2013) Scheduled Tribes in India: As Revealed in Census 2011.
- Charmaz, K. (2006) 'Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative research', SagePublications Ltd, London.
- Chattopadhyay, N., Ghosh, K. and Chandras, S. (2016) 'Agrometeorological Advisory to assist the farmers in meeting the challenges of extreme weather events', MAUSAM, 67(1), pp. 277-288.
- Choudhury, P. R. Improving the Drought Resilience of the Small Farmer Agroecosystem.
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J. and Hayter, M. 2014. Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: does size matter? In: Ltd, J.W.S. (ed.).
- Cote, M. and Nightingale, A. J. (2012) 'Resilience thinking meets social theory: Situating social change in socio-ecological systems (SES) research', Progress in Human Geography, 36(4), pp. 475-489.

- Creswell, J. W. and Poth, C. N. (2017) Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Sage publications.
- Cretney, R. (2014) 'Resilience for Whom? Emerging Critical Geographies of Socio-ecological Resilience', Geography Compass, 8(9), pp. 627-640.
- Ercan, S. A. and Marsh, D. (2016) '21 Qualitative methods in political science', Handbook of Research Methods and Applications in Political Science, pp. 309.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006) 'Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research', Qualitative Inquiry, 12(2), pp. 219-245.
- Folke, C., Hahn, T., Olsson, P. and Norberg, J. (2005) 'Adaptive Governance of Social-Ecological Systems', Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 30, pp. 441-473.
- Fossey, E., Harvey, C., McDermott, F. and Davidson, L. (2002) 'Understanding and evaluating qualitative research', Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry, 36(6), pp. 717-732.
- Fusch, P. I. and Ness, L. R. (2015) 'Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research', The Qualitative Report, 20(9), pp. 1408.
- Gallopín, G. C. (2006) 'Linkages between vulnerability, resilience, and adaptive capacity', Global Environmental Change, 16, pp. 293-303.
- Gerring, J. (2004) 'What Is a Case Study and What Is It Good for?', American Political Science Review, 98(2), pp. 341-354.
- Gummadi, S., Wheeler, T., Osborne, T. and Turner, A. (2016) 'Addressing the uncertainties associated in assessing the impacts of climate change on agricultural crop production using model simulations', Academic Research Journal of Agricultural Science and Research, 4(5), pp. 206-221.
- Gupta, S. (2009) Human Rights Among Indian Populations: Knowledge, Awareness and Practice. Gyan Publishing House.
- Gurung, T. (2013) 'India Declares a New Tiger Reserve in Tamil Nadu', World Wildlife Fund. Available at: https://www.worldwildlife.org/stories/india-declares-a-new-tiger-reserve-intamil-nadu.
- Harihar, A., Ghosh-Harihar, M. and MacMillan, D. C. (2014) 'Human resettlement and tiger conservation-socio-economic assessment of pastoralists reveals a rare conservation

opportunity in a human-dominated landscape', Biological Conservation, 169, pp. 167-175.

- Heale, R. and Forbes, D. (2013) 'Understanding triangulation in research', Evidence Based Nursing, 16(4), pp. 98.
- Heckathorn, D. D. (2011) 'Comment: snowball versus respondent-driven sampling', Sociological methodology, 41(1), pp. 355-366.
- Hilal, A. H. and Alabri, S. S. (2013) 'Using NVivo for Data Analysis in Qualitative Research', International Interdisciplinary Journal of Education, 2(2), pp. 181-186.
- Hochman, Z., Horan, H., Reddy, D. R., Sreenivas, G., Tallapragada, C., Adusumilli, R., Gaydon, D., Singh, K. K. and Roth, C. H. (2017) 'Smallholder farmers managing climate risk in India: 1. Adapting to a variable climate', Agricultural Systems, 150, pp. 54-66.
- Howe, P.D., Thaker, J., and Leiserowitz, A. 2014. Public perceptions of rainfall change in India. *Climate Change*, 127(1), pp. 211-25.
- Hussain, A., Dasgupta, S. and Bargali, H. S. (2016) 'Conservation perceptions and attitudes of semi-nomadic pastoralist towards relocation and biodiversity management: a case study of Van Gujjars residing in and around Corbett Tiger Reserve, India', Environment, development and sustainability, 18(1), pp. 57-72.
- Iizumi, T., Luo, J.-J., Challinor, A. J., Sakurai, G., Yokozawa, M., Sakuma, H., Brown, M. E. and Yamagata, T. (2014) 'Impacts of El Niño Southern Oscillation on the global yields of major crops', Nature Communications, 5(3712), pp. 1-7.
 India, C. o., 2011 Census of India (2011) Erode District, Tamil Nadu: Directorate of Census Operations, Tamil Nadu.
- Isaeva, N., Bachmann, R., Bristow, A. and Saunders, M. N. K. (2015) 'Why the epistemologies of trust researchers matter', Journal of Trust Research, 5(2), pp. 153-169.
 Joseph, M., Murugan, E. and Hemalatha, M. (2017) 'Forecast Verification Analysis of Rainfall for Southern Districts of Tamil Nadu, India', International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 6(5), pp. 299-306.
- Kamberelis, G. and Dimitriadis, G. (2013) Focus groups. Routledge.
- Kannan, A. (2017) 'Dead storage Mettur: Understanding Tamil Nadu's drought from ground zero', The News Minute, 23 April 2017. Available at:

http://www.thenewsminute.com/article/dead-storage-mettur-understanding-tamil-nadu-s-drought-ground-zero-60838.

- Kapoor, S. M. (2017) 'Tamil Nadu Farmers Suspend Delhi Strike After Chief Minister's Promise', NDTV, 23 April 2017. Available at: http://www.ndtv.com/tamil-nadunews/tamil-nadu-farmers-protesting-in-delhi-call-off-strike-sources-1684957.
- Katz, J. (2015) 'A theory of qualitative methodology: The social system of analytic fieldwork', Methods: African Review of Social Sciences Methodology, 1(1-2), pp. 131-146.
- Kedia, S. (2017) 'The biggest drought in 140 years- why Tamil Nadu must concern us all', Your Story, 15 May 2017. Available at: https://yourstory.com/2017/05/tamil-nadu-farm-crisis/.
- Kedlaya, G. (2013) 'Sathyamangalam gets reserve tag', Deccan Herald, 9 April 2013. Available at: http://www.deccanherald.com/content/324729/sathyamangalam-gets-reserve-tag.html.
- Kodandapani, N., Satheesh, N, Singhar, Ashutosh Samant, Kumar, K. Raj (2014) Human dimensions of forest degradation in the Sathyamangalam landscape: Spatial pattern of disturbances, socio-economic status, and sustainability: Asian Nature Conservation Foundation (ANCF), Sathyamangalam Forest Division, and Center for Advanced Spatial and Environmental Research (CASER).
- Kotteswaran, C. S. (2017) 'Drought ravages forest, animals in Tamil Nadu', Deccan Chronicle, 30 March 2017. Available at: http://www.deccanchronicle.com/nation/current-affairs/300317/drought-ravages-forest-animals-in-tamil-nadu.html.
- Kumar, K., Singh, N. M. and Kerr, J. M. (2015) 'Decentralisation and democratic forest reforms in India: Moving to a rights-based approach', Forest Policy and Economics, 51, pp. 1-8.
- Lahiri, B., Anurag, S., Chauhan, J. K., Sangma, A. K. and Sangma, S. M. (2017) 'Mobile Phone Use Efficiency of Garo Tribal Farmers in North- Eastern Himalayan Region of India', Indian Research Journal of Extension Education, 7(1), pp. 24-31.
- Lobo, C., Chattopadhyay, N. and Rao, K. V. (2017) 'Making Smallholder Farming Climatesmart: Integrated Agrometeorological Services', Economic and Political Weekly, 52(1), pp. 53-58.
- Longhurst, R. (2003) 'Semi-structured interviews and focus groups', Key methods in geography, pp. 117-132.
- Majumdar, K. (2016) 'Economic and political perspectives of Fourth World populations in India', Fourth World Journal, 15(1), pp. 47.

- Mani, G. (2017) 'Tamil Nadu farmers protest in New Delhi gains momentum', The New Indian Express, 05 August 2017. Available at: http://www.newindianexpress.com/cities/delhi/2017/aug/05/tamil-nadu-farmers-protest-in-new-delhi-gains-momentum-1638915.html.
- Manikandan, M. a. T., Dhanapal (2015) 'Assessing hydrological drought characterics: A case study in a sub basin of Tamil Nadu, India', Agricultural Engineering, 2015(1), pp. 71-83.
- Mariappanl, J. (2016) 'Tamil Nadu stares at water crisis as rain fails', The Times of India, 16 November 2016. Available at: http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/chennai/Tamil-Nadu-stares-at-water-crisis-as-rain-fails/articleshow/55447242.cms.
- Mariappanl, J. (2017) 'Tamil Nadu stares at drought as reservoir levels dip low', The Times of India, 1 April 2017. Available at: http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/chennai/tamilnadu-stares-at-drought-as-reservoir-levels-dip-low/articleshow/57950913.cms.
- Mason, M. 'Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews'. Forum qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: qualitative social research.
- Meinke, H., Nelson, R., Kokic, P., Stone, R., Selvaraju, R. and Baethgen, W. (2006) 'Actionable climate knowledge: from analysis to synthesis', Climate Research, 33, pp. 101-110.
- Milestad, R. and Darnhofer, I. (2003) 'Building Farm Resilience: The Prospects and Challenges of Organic Farming', Journal of Sustainable Agriculture, 22(3), pp. 81-97.
- Mohanty, A. (2015) 'A study on implementation status of Forest Right Act, 2006 at the national and state levels and its recommendations', Journal of North East India Studies, 5(1), pp. 73-91.
- Mundoli, S., Joseph, G. and Setty, S. (2016) "Shifting agriculture": the changing dynamics of Adivasi farming in the forest-fringes of a tiger reserve in south India', Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 40(8), pp. 759-782.
- Naidu, C. V., Satyanarayana, G. C., Malleswara Rao, L., Durgalakshmi, K., Dharma Raju, A.,
- Vinay Kumar, P. and Jeevana Mounika, G. (2015) 'Anomalous behavior of Indian summer monsoon in the warming environment', Earth-Science Reviews, 150, pp. 243-255.
- Next, D. (2016a) 'Declare Erode dist drought-hit, demand farmers', DT Next, 20 November 2016. Available at: http://www.dtnext.in/News/City/2016/11/20002844/1021815/Declare-Erode-distdroughthit-demand-farmers.vpf.

- Next, D. (2016b) 'Declare Erode dist drought-hit, demand farmers', DT Next, 20 November 2016. Available at: http://www.dtnext.in/News/City/2016/11/20002844/1021815/Declare-Erode-distdroughthit-demand-farmers.vpf.
- Ostrom, E. (2009) 'A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems', Science, 325, pp. 419-422.
- O'Reilly, M. and Parker, N. (2013) "Unsatisfactory Saturation': a critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research', Qualitative research, 13(2), pp. 190-197.
- Paramasivam, S. and Philip, H. (2016) 'Climate Change Impact on Paddy Farming in Erode and Tiruchirapalli Districts of Tamil Nadu', Journal of Extension Education, 27(4).
- Patnaik, P. (2013) 'Does political representation ensure empowerment? Scheduled tribes in decentralised local governments of India', Journal of South Asian Development, 8(1), pp. 27-60.
- Perera, J. (2014) '3. Displacement through Limiting Access to Forests: A Socio-Legal Analysis', Lose to Gain: Is Involuntary Resettlement a Development Opportunity?, pp. 36.
- Portal, I. W. Borewells and Tubewells. Available at: http://www.indiawaterportal.org/topics/borewells-and-tubewells.
- Portal, T. A. Bhavani Sagar Dam. Available at: http://agritech.tnau.ac.in/agriculture/agri_resourcemgt_water_res_bhavanisagardam.pdf.
- Portal, T. N. A. U. A. (2013) Agricultural Research Station, Bhavanisagar. Available at: http://agritech.tnau.ac.in/about us/abt us reserach bhavanisagar.html.
- Prabhakar, S., District, D.D.o.S.F.E. (2017) District Statistical Handbook 2015-2016.
- Pradhan, A., Chan, C., Roul, P. K., Halbrendt, J. and Sipes, B. (2017) 'Potential of conservation agriculture (CA) for climate change adaptation and food security under rainfed uplands of India: A transdisciplinary approach', Agricultural Systems.
- Raj, A. (2016) 'Climate change: cause, impact and mitigation strategies', South Indian Journal of Biological Sciences, 2(4), pp. 363-367.
- Ramasubramanian, S., Department, T.N.F. Management Plan for Sathyamangalam Wildlife Sanctuary (2010 to 2020).

- Rao, C. S. and Gopinath, K. (2016) 'Resilient rainfed technologies for drought mitigation and sustainable food security', Mausam, 67(1), pp. 169-182.
- Rao, V. and Rao, B. B. (2016) 'Coping strategies for extreme weather in dryland agriculture', MAUSAM, 67(1), pp. 5-14.
- Reserve, S. T. Climate and Hydrology. Available at: http://str-tn.org/climate/.
- Rodríguez, A. M. L., Hansen, J., Baethgen, W. E. and Martinez-Baron, D. (2017) 'Climate services and insurance: scaling climate smart agriculture', Agriculture for Development, 30, pp. 31-34.
- Roxy, M. K., Ritika, K., Terray, P., Murtugudde, R., Ashok, K. and Goswami, B. N. (2015)'Drying of Indian subcontinent by rapid Indian Ocean warming and a weakening land-sea thermal gradient', Nature Communications, 6, pp. 1-10.
- Sathya, M. (2017) 'A contemporary assessment of tree species in Sathyamangalam Tiger Reserve, Southern India', Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, 7(2), pp. 30.
- Schwandt, T. A. (1998) 'Constructivist, interpretivist approaches to human inquiry', in Denzin,N.K. & Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.) The landscape of qualitative research: Theories and issues.Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Seawright, J. and Gerring, J. (2008) 'Case Selection Techniques in Case Study Research: A Menu of Qualitative and Quantitative', Political Research Quarterly, 61(2), pp. 294-308.
- Service, E. N. (2017) 'Tamil Nadu farmers protesting in Delhi seek permission from President to kill themselves', The New Indian Express, 21 August 2017. Available at: http://www.newindianexpress.com/nation/2017/aug/21/tamil-nadu-farmers-protesting-indelhi-seek-permission-from-president-to-kill-themselves-1646265.html.
- Shukla, G., Kumar, A., Pala, N. A. and Chakravarty, S. (2016) 'Farmers perception and awareness of climate change: a case study from Kanchandzonga Biosphere Reserve, India', Environment, development and sustainability, 18(4), pp. 1167-1176.
- Singh, C., Daron, J., Bazaz, A., Ziervogel, G., Spear, D., Krishnaswamy, J., Zaroug, M. and Kituyi, E. (2017) 'The utility of weather and climate information for adaptation decisionmaking: current uses and future prospects in Africa and India', Climate and Development, pp. 1-17.

- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J. and Le, A. (2014) 'Choosing a qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer', Annals of Leisure Research, pp. 1-33.
- Springate-Baginski, O., Sarin, M. and Reddy, M. G. (2013) 'Resisting rights: forest bureaucracy and the tenure transition in India', Small-scale Forestry, 12(1), pp. 107-124.
- Sundar, B. (2013) 'An Analysis of the Property Rights of Forest Dependent Communities: The Indian Context', Vikalpa, 38(3), pp. 79-102.
- Swaminathan, D. R. (2016) 'Agricultural transformation and indigenous communities'.
- Tall, A., Hansen, J, Jay, A, Campbell, B, Kinyangi, J, Aggarwal, P.K., and Zougmoré, R (2014) Scaling up climate services for farmers: Mission Possible. Learning from good practice in Africa and South Asia, Copenhagen, Denmark: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). Available at: https://ccafs.cgiar.org/publications/scaling-climate-services-farmers-mission-possiblelearning-good-practice-africa-and#.WZ62oHeGPBI.
- Temple, B. (2002) 'Crossed wires: Interpreters, translators, and bilingual workers in crosslanguage research', Qualitative health research, 12(6), pp. 844-854.
- Temple, B. and Edwards, R. (2002) 'Interpreters/translators and cross-language research: Reflexivity and border crossings', International journal of qualitative methods, 1(2), pp. 1-12.
- TNN (2016a) 'As rain fails, farmers turn to drip irrigation', The Times of India, 14 December 2016. Available at: http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/coimbatore/As-rain-failsfarmers-turn-to-drip-irrigation/articleshow/55969434.cms.
- TNN (2016b) 'Water scarcity drives animals out of Sathyamangalam forest', The Times of India,
 20 October 2016. Available at: http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/erode/Water-scarcity-drives-animals-out-of-Sathyamangalam-forest/articleshow/54946552.cms.
- TNN (2017) 'Rain brings life to Sathyamangalam Tiger Reserve, wild animals return', 22 June 2017. Available at: http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/salem/rain-brings-life-to-str-wild-animals-return/articleshow/59260713.cms.
- Tripathi, A. and Mishra, A. K. (2017) 'Knowledge and passive adaptation to climate change: An example from Indian farmers', Climate Risk Management, 16, pp. 195-207.
- Vaitheesvaran, B. (2017) 'Agrarian crisis: Borewell and free power ruin Tamil Nadu farmers',TheEconomicTimes,05May2017.Availableat:

http://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/agrarian-crisis-borewelland-free-power-ruin-tamil-nadu-farmers/articleshow/58527239.cms.

- van Etten, J., Steinke, J. and van Wijk, M. (2017) 'How can the Data Revolution contribute to climate action in smallholder agriculture?', Agriculture for Development, 30, pp. 44-48.
- Van Loon, A. F., Gleeson, T., Clark, J., Van Dijk, A. I. J. M., Stahl, K., Hannaford, J., Di
 Baldassarre, G., Teuling, A. J., Tallaksen, L. M., Uijlenhoet, R., Hannah, D. M.,
 Sheffield, J., Svoboda, M., Verbeiren, B., Wagener, T., Rangecroft, S., Wanders, N. and
 Van Lanen, H. A. J. (2016) 'Drought in the Anthropocene', Nature Geosci, 9(2), pp. 89-91.
- Varadan, R. J., Kumar, P., Jha, G. K., Pal, S. and Singh, R. (2017) 'An exploratory study on occurrence and impact of climate change on agriculture in Tamil Nadu, India', Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 127(3-4), pp. 993-1010.
- Veeresha, N. (2016) 'Agrarian Situation, Land Acquisition and Insurrections of Independent India: An Analysis of the Indian State Response', Journal of Land and Rural Studies, 4(2), pp. 140-152.
- Venkatesh, M. R. (2017) '2016 was 'water famine' year', Deccan Chronicle, 21 August 2017. Available at: http://www.deccanchronicle.com/nation/current-affairs/210817/2016-waswater-famine-year.html.
- Wang, S., Huang, J., He, Y. and Guan, Y. (2014) 'Combined effects of the Pacific Decadal Oscillation and El Niño-Southern Oscillation on Global Land Dry–Wet Changes', 4, pp. 6651.
- Welsh, E. 'Dealing with data: Using NVivo in the qualitative data analysis process'. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research.
- Welsh, M. (2014) 'Resilience and responsibility: governing uncertainty in a complex world', The Geographical Journal, 180(1), pp. 15-26.
- Wilson, V. (2016) 'Research Methods: Triangulation', Evidence Based Library and Information Practice, 9(1), pp. 74–75.
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015) 'The Implication of Using NVivo Software in Qualitative Data Analysis: Evidence-Based Reflections', Malawi Medical Journal, 27(1), pp. 13-15.

Appendices

Appendix A: General Key Informant Interview Guide

Appendix B: General Farmer Interview Guide

Appendix C: Classification Nodes for Key Informant Interviews

Node 1: Key Informant Characteristics



Node 2: Climatic Risks and Resilience



Node 3: Agricultural Systems



Appendix D: Classification Nodes for Farmer Interviews

Node 1: Demographic Factors



Node 2: Climate Variability



Sought CIS

Node 3: Farm Characteristics



Node 4: Irrigation and Water Sources



Node 5: External Support

